
STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission : 
 On Its Own Motion : 
   : 
  vs. : 
   : 
Ameren Illinois Company : 13-0554 
 d/b/a Ameren Illinois : 
   : 
Citation for alleged violations of : 
federal rules incorporated by the : 
Illinois Commerce Commission : 
regarding general requirements. : 
 
 

ORDER 
 
By the Commission: 
 
 Under Section 3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act ("Act") (220 ILCS 20/3), 
the Illinois Commerce Commission ("Commission") is required to do the following: 
 

*** adopt rules establishing minimum safety standards for the 
transportation of gas and for pipeline facilities. Such rules shall be at least 
as inclusive, as stringent, and compatible with, the minimum safety 
standards adopted by the Secretary of Transportation under the Federal 
Act. 

 
The "Federal Act" referred to is the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968. The 
Commission has incorporated by reference applicable federal rules at 83 Ill. Adm. Code 
590, "Minimum Safety Standards for Transportation of Gas and for Gas Pipeline 
Facilities."  Section 590.10(a) incorporates "49 CFR 191.1, 191.3, 191.5, 191.7, 191.9, 
191.11, 191.12, 191.13, 191.15, 191.17, 191.22, 191.23, 191.25, 192, 193 and 199 as 
of January 1, 2013, as its minimum safety standards for the transportation of gas and 
for gas pipeline facilities." 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10(a). 
 
 In a Staff Report dated September 5, 2013, the Staff of the Commission's Safety 
and Reliability Division details alleged violations by Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a 
Ameren Illinois ("Ameren") for failure to comply with specified minimum safety 
requirements incorporated by Part 590.  Ameren is a public utility engaged in the 
conveyance of natural gas by pipeline (see 220 ILCS 5/3-105); as such, it is subject to 

1 

 



the Act as a person who engages in the transportation of gas or who owns or operates 
pipelines facilities.  Section 6(a)(1) of the Act requires that every person who engages in 
those activities shall "at all times after the date any applicable safety standard 
established under this Act takes effect comply with the requirements of such standard[.]" 
220 ILCS 20/6(a)(1). 
 
 As recounted in the Staff Report, Staff conducted two separate audits of 
Ameren's Alton operating center.  The first audit occurred on April 18, 2013, and 
reviewed compliance records associated with a reported gas leak in the Village of 
Grafton.  The second audit was conducted on May 14-17, 2013, and included a review 
of compliance records and a field inspection of the operating center's natural gas 
distribution system. 
 
 As the Staff Report explains, 49 CFR § 192.605(a) requires each operator to 
prepare and follow a manual of written procedures for conducting operation and 
maintenance activities and for emergency response. This manual is commonly referred 
to as the operator's "Operation and Maintenance Plan."  A pipeline operator's failure to 
adhere to the written procedures contained in its Operation and Maintenance Plan is a 
violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(a). 
 
 The Staff Report discusses the circumstances surrounding the two Ameren 
audits. With regard to the first audit, the Staff Report relates the following: 
 

During the April 18, 2013, audit, Staff reviewed Ameren compliance 
records regarding a gas leak initially reported as a Class 3 leak on 
January 23, 2013, in the 200 block of Main Street, Grafton, Illinois. The 
review determined that the initial evaluation of the gas leak was incorrect 
because of selection of an inappropriate hazard potential “more than 15 
feet from a building wall.”  Ameren Leak Classification Guidelines included 
in the Ameren Operation and Maintenance Plan (“O&M”), Section 2.04 
provide various hazard potentials to be selected when classifying a leak.  
The hazard potential that identifies the highest applicable risk category is 
to be chosen when conducting leak classification. The hazard potential 
“under wall to wall paving” should have been selected based on the field 
observations by Staff. Staff identified that pavement was uninterrupted 
from the location where the leak was identified to the build wall of a gas 
station.  Wall-to-wall pavement can trap leaking gas and result in migration 
to structures and underground substructures such as vaults or sewers.  
Leaks under pavement require the more stringent monitoring and repair 
schedules associated with Class 2 leaks rather than less stringent 
requirements associated with Class 3 leaks. Subsequent evaluations on 
January 23, January 25, and January 29; February 6 (three separate 
times on this date), February 12; April 5 and April 13, 2013, of the same 
leak location by several different Ameren personnel also resulted in a 
similar failure to select the appropriate hazard potential, resulting in a 
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continuing inappropriate leak classification. Ameren repaired the leak after 
Staff identified the classification deficiency during the April 18, 2013 audit. 

 
The Staff Report provides the following information with respect to the second audit: 
 

During the May 14-17, 2013 record audit, Staff reviewed an open Class 2 
leak, # 2011-004808, located at 2250 E. Broadway in Alton, IL. “Open” 
leaks are reported leaks that have not received the necessary action to 
repair or eliminate the leak by replacement of the pipeline. That leak was 
originally discovered and properly classified as a Class 2 leak during a 
July 11, 2011, business district leakage survey, utilizing Ameren’s Leak 
Classification Guidelines (Leak Management Section 2.04). However, on 
December 29, 2011, during a 6-month recheck and surveillance required 
for Class 2 leaks, the leak was then misclassified as a Class 3 leak. The 
Ameren employee conducting the recheck and surveillance failed to use 
the correct hazard potential, which was wall-to-wall paving and, instead, 
the employee reclassified the leak using a less severe hazard potential 
indicating the leak was greater than 15 feet from the structure. The 
selection of wall-to-wall pavement as the appropriate hazard identification 
was based on the Ameren Leak Management Section 2.04 due to the 
higher hazard potential. The failure to properly classify the leak in 
December 2011 was then corrected when the leak was evaluated during a 
June 18, 2012, business district leakage survey: the leak was properly re-
classified as a Class 2 leak using the correct wall-to-wall paving criteria as 
the hazard potential. 

 
 The Staff Report states that the incidents of improper leak classification 
described above would, if proved, violate the company's guidelines for leak 
classification in its Operation and Maintenance Plan.  The failure to adhere to the plan 
would be a violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(a). 
 
 The Staff Report presents a sufficient basis to initiate a proceeding to determine 
whether Ameren has violated the federal rules incorporated by reference in 83 Ill. Adm. 
Code 590. Section 7(a) of the Act provides: 
 

 Any person violating paragraph (a) of Section 6 of this Act or any rule or 
order issued under this Act is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed the 
maximum penalties established by Section 60122(a)(1) of Title 49 of the United 
States Code for each day the violation persists. 220 ILCS 20/7(a). 

 
The maximum penalty established by 49 USC § 60122(a)(1) is $200,000 for each 
violation. A separate violation occurs for each day the violation continues; the maximum 
civil penalty under this Section for a related series of violations is $2,000,000. 
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 The Commission, being fully advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds 
that: 
 

(1) the Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter herein and the 
parties hereto; 

 
(2)  Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois is a public utility engaged in 

the conveyance of gas by pipeline and, as such, is subject to the Illinois 
Gas Pipeline Safety Act in that it is a person who engages in the 
transportation of gas or who owns or operates pipeline facilities; 

 
(3) Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois should be made the  

respondent to this proceeding; 
 
(4) the Commission has incorporated as its rules the federal rules relating to 

gas pipeline safety through its adoption of 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590; 
 
(5) the Staff Report from the Safety and Reliability Division provides a basis 

for the initiation of a proceeding to determine whether Ameren Illinois 
Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois has failed to comply with the requirements 
of the Code of Federal Regulations that the Commission has incorporated 
by reference by its adoption of 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590; 

 
(6) a proceeding should be initiated pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Gas 

Pipeline Safety Act (220 ILCS 20/7) to determine whether the company 
has failed to comply with 49 CFR § 192.605(a); 

 
(7) the Staff Report dated September 5, 2013, should be made a part of the 

record of this proceeding. 
 

 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Illinois Commerce Commission that a 
proceeding be initiated to determine whether Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren 
Illinois has failed to comply with the following requirement of the Code of Federal 
Regulations adopted by the Illinois Commerce Commission as required by Section 3 of 
the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act and rules of the Commission adopted under the Act, 
and to determine whether civil penalties should be imposed pursuant to Section 7 of the 
Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act: 
 

49 CFR § 192.605(a), which requires each operator to prepare and follow 
a manual of written procedures for conducting operation and maintenance 
activities and for emergency response. 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois 
be made a respondent to this proceeding. 
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 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Staff Report dated September 5, 2013, be 
made a part of the record of this proceeding. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the respondent appear at the offices of the 
Commission at the time and date specified by the Administrative Law Judge assigned to 
this proceeding. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED  that the failure of the respondent to appear as 
ordered may result in findings that Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois has 
failed to comply with the enumerated requirements of the Code of Federal Regulations 
as incorporated by reference by the Illinois Commerce Commission and may result in 
the imposition of civil penalties pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety 
Act. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order is not final; it is not subject to the 
Administrative Review Law. 
 
 By Order of the Commission this 2nd day of October, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
   (SIGNED) DOUGLAS P. SCOTT 
 
 
           Chairman 
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